COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT between the **LEADNOW SOCIETY** and the **B.C. GENERAL EMPLOYEES' UNION (BCGEU)** Effective from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2025 250331v2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 -	PREAMBLE	1
1.1	Application of Agreement	1
1.2	Purpose of Agreement	1
1.3	Future Legislation	1
1.4	Other Legislation	1
1.5	Conflict with Regulations and/or Policies	1
1.6	Use of Gender Neutral and Singular Terms	1
1.7	No Discrimination	2
1.8	Trans Inclusion	2
ARTICLE 2 -	UNION RECOGNITION AND RIGHTS	2
2.1	Bargaining Unit Defined	2
2.2	Bargaining Agent Recognition	2
2.3	Correspondence	3
2.4	No Other Agreements	3
2.5	Recognition and Rights of Stewards	3
2.6	Communication to Members	3
2.7	Union Insignia	4
2.8	Right to Refuse to Cross Picket Lines During Strike	4
2.9	Right of Fair Representation	4
2.1	0 Board Representation	4
2.1	1 Meetings with Employer Considered Time Worked	4
2.1	2 Time Off for Union Business	4
ΔRTICLE 3 -	UNION SECURITY	5
3.1		
3.2	•	
	CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES	
5.1	EMPLOYER AND UNION SHALL ACQUAINT NEW EMPLOYEES	
5.1	·	
_		
	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 7 -	EMPLOYER/UNION RIGHTS	
7.1		
7.2		
7.3	r	
7.4	8-	
7.5	Technical Information	7
ARTICLE 8 -	JOINT CONSULTATION COMMITTEE	
8.1		
8.2		
8.3	5	
8.4	Minutes of Meeting	8
ARTICI F 9	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	8
ANTICLE 3		
9.1		8

9.4 Time Limits to Respond at Step 2 9.5 Time Limit to refer to Arbitration 9.5 Amending Time Limits 9.6 Amending Time Limits 9.7 Failure to Act 9.7 Failure to Act 9.7 Failure to Act 9.8 Dismissal or Suspension Grievance 9.9 9.9 Deviation from Grievance Procedure 9.9 9.10 Policy Grievance 9.9 9.10 Policy Grievance 9.9 9.10 Policy Grievance 9.9 9.10 Notification 10.10 Notification 10.10 Notification 10.10 Notification 10.10 Notification 10.10 Arbitrator 10.10 Notification 10.10 Arbitrator 10.10 Notification 10.10 Arbitrator 10.10 Notification 10.10 Authority of the Arbitrator 10.10 Notification 10.10 Authority of the Arbitrator 10.10 Notification 10.10		9.3	Step 2 - Submission to Executive Director	
9.6 Amending Time Limits		9.4	Time Limits to Respond at Step 2	9
9.7 Failure to Act. 9 9.8 Dismissal or Suspension Grievance 9 9.8 Deviation from Grievance Procedure 9 9.10 Policy Grievance 9 9.10 Policy Grievance 9 9.10 Notification 10 10.1 Notification 10 10.2 Arbitrator 10 10.3 Power of the Arbitrator 10 10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator 10 10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 10 10.8 Administration 11 ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 1.1.1 Discipline Procedure 11 1.1.2 Burden of Proof. 11 1.1.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 1.1.4 Personnel Records 11 1.1.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 11 1.1.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 1.1.1 Seniority Defined 12 1.1.2 Seniority List 13 1.1.3 Loss of Seniority List 13 1.3.1 Job Postings 13 1.3.1 Job Postings 13 1.3.2 Information in Postings 13 1.3.3 Selection Process 13 1.3.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 1.3.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 1.3.6 Trial Period 14 1.3.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 1.4.4 Severance 15 1.4.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 1.4.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		9.5	Time Limit to refer to Arbitration	9
9.8 Dismissal or Suspension Grievance 9 9.9 Deviation from Grievance Procedure 9 9.10 Policy Grievance 9 ARTICLE 10 - ARBITRATION 10 10.1 Notification 10 10.2 Arbitrator 10 10.3 Power of the Arbitrator 10 10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator 10 10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 11.8 Administration 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.1.1 Burden of Proof. 11 11.2 Burden of Proof. 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demottion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 12.7 Seniority Defined </td <td></td> <td>9.6</td> <td>Amending Time Limits</td> <td> 9</td>		9.6	Amending Time Limits	9
9.9 Deviation from Grievance Procedure 9 9.10 Policy Grievance 9 ARTICLE 10 - ARBITRATION 10 10.1 Notification 10 10.2 Arbitrator 10 10.3 Power of the Arbitrator 10 10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator 10 10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.1.1 Bigit of Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof 11 11.3 Right to Nave Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority Defined <		9.7		
9.10 Policy Grievance		9.8		
ARTICLE 10 - ARBITRATION 10. 10.1 Notification 10. 10.2 Arbitrator 10. 10.3 Power of the Arbitrator 10. 10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator 10. 10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10. 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10. 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10. 10.8 Administration 10. ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11. 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11. 11.2 Burden of Proof 11. 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11. 11.4 Personnel Records 11. 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 11. ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12. ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12. ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13. 13.1 Job Postings 13. 13.2 Information in Postings 13. 13.3 Selection Process 13. 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14. 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14. 13.6 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15. 14.1 Definition of Layoff 14. ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15. 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15. 14.3 Recall Procedure 15. 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16. 16. ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16. ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16. 16. ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16. 16. ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16. 16. ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16. 16. ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16. 16. ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16. 16. ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16. 16. Experiments 15. 17. Hours of the Arbitrator 10. 10. Authority of the Arbitrator 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 11. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 11. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 11. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 11. 11. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 11. 11. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 12. 11. 11. 11. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 13. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 14. 11. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 15. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10. 10		9.9	Deviation from Grievance Procedure	9
10.1 Notification 10 10.2 Arbitrator 10 10.3 Power of the Arbitrator 10 10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator 10 10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof. 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Disciplinary Action 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process		9.10	Policy Grievance	9
10.1 Notification 10 10.2 Arbitrator 10 10.3 Power of the Arbitrator 10 10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator 10 10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof. 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Disciplinary Action 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process	ARTICL	E 10 - AF	RBITRATION	.10
10.3 Power of the Arbitrator 10 10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator 10 10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Disciplinary Action 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 13.1 Job Postings AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.3 Selection Process 13				
10.3 Power of the Arbitrator 10 10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator 10 10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Disciplinary Action 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 13.1 Job Postings AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.3 Selection Process 13		10.2	Arbitrator	. 10
10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator 10 10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority Defined 12 12.2.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4		10.3		
10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator 10 10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.1 Joss of Seniority 13 13.2 Loss of Seniority 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Pa		10.4		
10.6 Amending of Time Limits 10 10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 11.0 10.8 Administration 11 11 DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof. 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Sele		10.5	·	
10.7 Expedited Arbitration 10 10.8 Administration 11 ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL		10.6	•	
10.8 Administration 11 ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE 11 11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 1		10.7	_	
ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE		10.8	·	
11.1 Discipline Procedure 11 11.2 Burden of Proof 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15	ADTICI	E 11 DI	SCHARGE SUSPENSION AND DISCIDURE	11
11.2 Burden of Proof. 11 11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.1 Seniority List 13 12.2 Seniority List 13 13.1 Jos po Fostings AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvas	AKTICL			
11.3 Right to have Steward Present 11 11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff <td></td> <td></td> <td>·</td> <td></td>			·	
11.4 Personnel Records 12 11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16				
11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline 12 11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16				
11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action 12 ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16				
ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY 12 12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		_	·	
12.1 Seniority Defined 12 12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16				
12.2 Seniority List 13 12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16				17
12.3 Loss of Seniority 13 ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16	ARTICL			
ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES 13 13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16	ARTICL	12.1	Seniority Defined	. 12
13.1 Job Postings 13 13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16	ARTICL	12.1 12.2	Seniority Defined	. 12 . 13
13.2 Information in Postings 13 13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16	ARTICL	12.1 12.2	Seniority Defined	. 12 . 13
13.3 Selection Process 13 13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		12.1 12.2 12.3	Seniority Defined	. 12 . 13 . 13
13.4 Staff on Selection Panel 14 13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES	. 12 . 13 . 13
13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees 14 13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13
13.6 Trial Period 14 13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2	Seniority Defined	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13
13.7 Changes in Classification 14 ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3	Seniority Defined	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14
ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL 15 14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4	Seniority Defined	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14
14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5	Seniority Defined	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14
14.1 Definition of Layoff 15 14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16		12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14
14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass 15 14.3 Recall Procedure 15 14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period Changes in Classification	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14
14.4 Severance 15 14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff 15 14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls 16 ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 E 14 - LA	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period Changes in Classification	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14 . 14
14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 E 14 - LA 14.1	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period Changes in Classification. YOFF AND RECALL Definition of Layoff	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14 . 14 . 14
14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 E 14 - LA 14.1 14.2	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period Changes in Classification YOFF AND RECALL Definition of Layoff Pre-Layoff Canvass	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14 . 14 . 15 . 15
14.6Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls16ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK1615.1Regular Working Hours1615.2Flexible Work Schedule16	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 E 14 - LA 14.1 14.2	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period Changes in Classification YOFF AND RECALL Definition of Layoff Pre-Layoff Canvass Recall Procedure	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14 . 14 . 15 . 15
ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK 16 15.1 Regular Working Hours 16 15.2 Flexible Work Schedule 16	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 E 14 - LA 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period Changes in Classification YOFF AND RECALL Definition of Layoff Pre-Layoff Canvass Recall Procedure Severance	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14 . 14 . 15 . 15 . 15
15.1Regular Working Hours	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 E 14 - LA 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period Changes in Classification NYOFF AND RECALL Definition of Layoff Pre-Layoff Canvass Recall Procedure Severance Advance Notice of Layoff	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14 . 14 . 15 . 15 . 15 . 15
15.2 Flexible Work Schedule	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 E 14 - LA 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5 14.6	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period Changes in Classification YOFF AND RECALL Definition of Layoff Pre-Layoff Canvass Recall Procedure Severance Advance Notice of Layoff. Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14 . 14 . 15 . 15 . 15 . 15 . 15
	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 E 14 - LA 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5 14.6 E 15 - HO	Seniority Defined Seniority List	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14 . 14 . 15 . 15 . 15 . 15 . 15
	ARTICL	12.1 12.2 12.3 E 13 - JO 13.1 13.2 13.3 13.4 13.5 13.6 13.7 E 14 - LA 14.1 14.2 14.3 14.4 14.5 14.6 E 15 - HO	Seniority Defined Seniority List Loss of Seniority B POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES Job Postings Information in Postings Selection Process Staff on Selection Panel Probation for Newly Hired Employees Trial Period Changes in Classification YOFF AND RECALL Definition of Layoff Pre-Layoff Canvass Recall Procedure Severance Advance Notice of Layoff Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls DURS OF WORK Regular Working Hours	. 12 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 13 . 14 . 14 . 14 . 15 . 15 . 15 . 15 . 15

	15.4	Rest Periods and Meal Breaks	. 16
ARTICLI	E 16 - 0\	/ERTIME	.17
	16.1	Definitions	
	16.2	Overtime Entitlement	
	16.3	Recording of Overtime	
	16.4	Overtime Compensation	
	16.5	Right to Refuse Overtime	
	16.6	Rest Interval	. 18
	16.7	Child Care Expenses Outside of Regular Workday	. 18
	16.8	Review of Workload	. 18
ARTICLI	F 17 - PΔ	IID HOLIDAYS	.18
7.1.T.T.C.E.	17.1	Paid Holidays	
	17.2	Compensation for Paid Holidays Falling on Friday/Saturday/Sunday	
	17.3	Compensation for Work on Paid Holiday	
ARTICLI		ACATIONS	
	18.1	Vacation Entitlement	_
	18.2	Year End Office Closure	
	18.3	Vacation Carryover	
	18.4	Compensation for Holidays Falling within Vacation Schedule	
	18.5	Vacation Pay	
	18.6	Vacation Pay on Termination	
	18.7	Unused Vacation on Death	
	18.8	Vacation Pay on Retirement	
	18.9	Vacation Schedules	
	18.10		
ARTICLI	E 19 - SIC	CK LEAVE PROVISIONS	
	19.1	Sick Leave Defined	
	19.2	Sick Leave Entitlement	
	19.3	Employee to Inform the Employer	
	19.4	Long-Term Disability	
	19.5	Workers' Compensation Benefits	. 21
ARTICLI	E 20 - SP	ECIAL AND OTHER LEAVE	.21
	20.1	Religious Holidays	. 21
	20.2	Personal Days	. 21
	20.3	Family Responsibility Leave	. 21
	20.4	Bereavement Leave	. 21
	20.5	Critical Illness or Injury Leave and Compassionate Care Leave	. 22
	20.6	Court Appearances	. 22
	20.7	Leave for Incarceration	. 22
	20.8	Leave of Absence for Full-Time Public Duties	. 22
	20.9	Elections	. 22
	20.10	General Leave	
	20.11	Leave for Personal Work	. 23
	20.12	Benefits During Unpaid Leave	. 23
ARTICLI	E 21 - DC	DMESTIC ABUSE	.23
	21.1	Definitions	
		Excention to Entitlements	23

	21.3	Place of Work Accommodation	. 23
	21.4	Hours of Work Accommodation	. 24
	21.5	Domestic Violence Leave	. 24
ARTIC	LE 22 - PI	REGNANCY AND PARENTAL LEAVE	25
	22.1	Pregnancy Leave	. 25
	22.2	Pregnancy Leave Allowance	. 25
	22.3	Parental Leave	. 25
	22.4	Parental Leave Allowance	. 26
	22.5	Benefit Waiting Period Allowance	. 26
	22.6	Leave Without Pay	. 27
	22.7	Aggregate Leave	. 27
	22.8	Return from Leave	. 27
	22.9	Benefit Plan	. 27
	22.10	Seniority Rights on Return to Work	. 27
	22.11	Sick Leave Credits	
	22.12	Extended Child Care Leave	. 27
ARTIC	LE 23 - O	CCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY	28
	23.1	Workplace Safety	. 28
	23.2	Workplace Violence	. 28
	23.3	Right to Refuse Unsafe Work	. 28
ARTIC	LE 24 - H	EALTH AND WELFARE	28
	24.1	Basic Medical Insurance	. 28
	24.2	Benefit Plans	. 28
	24.3	Long-Term Disability Plan	. 29
	24.4	Employee and Family Assistance	. 29
ARTIC	LE 25 - PA	AYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES	29
	25.1	Paydays	. 29
	25.2	Rates of Pay	. 29
	25.3	Equal Pay for Work of Equal Value	. 29
	25.4	Vehicle Allowance	. 29
	25.5	Meal Allowances	. 30
	25.6	Professional Fees and Licences	. 30
	25.7	Union Sponsored Education	. 30
	25.8	Work-Related Training	. 30
	25.9	Phone and Internet Allowance	. 30
ARTIC	LE 26 - ST	TAFF REPRESENTATION ON BOARD	30
	26.1	Union Representation on Board	. 30
	26.2	Employer Shall Notify Union	. 31
	26.3	Copies of Resolutions	. 31
ARTIC	LE 27 - G	ENERAL CONDITIONS	31
	27.1	Copies of Agreement	. 31
	27.2	Indemnity	. 31
	27.3	Volunteers	. 31
ARTIC	LE 28 - H	ARASSMENT	31
	28.1	Harassment Free Workplace	. 32
	28.2	Violence and Harassment Definition	32

	28.3	Sexual Harassment Definition	33
	28.4	Procedure - Step 1: Reporting	34
	28.5	Step 2: Harassment Complaints and Informal Mediation	34
	28.6	Step 3: Formal Mediation	35
	28.7	Step 4: Formal Complaint and Investigation	35
	28.8	Investigation Report and Next Steps	36
	28.9	Appeal	36
	28.10	Appointment of Investigator	36
ARTICL	E 29 - CO	ONTRACT EMPLOYEES	37
	29.1	Definition	
	29.2	Pay in lieu	37
ARTICL	E 30 - TE	RM OF AGREEMENT	37
	30.1	Duration	37
	30.2	Notice to Bargain	37
	30.3	Changes in Agreement	38
	30.4	Agreement to Continue in Force	38
APPEN	DIX A - W	Vage Grid	39
LETTER	OF UND	ERSTANDING 1 - Re: Summer Students	39
INFORM	MATION	APPENDIX 1	39
МЕМО	RANDUN	M OF AGREEMENT #1	40
МЕМО	RANDUN	M OF AGREEMENT #2 - Re: Gender Affirmation Fund	40
MEMO	RANDIIN	M OF AGREEMENT #3 - Re: Working Ahroad	4 0

ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE

1.1 Application of Agreement

- (a) This collective agreement applies to the Employer's employees and dependent contractors in British Columbia, Ontario and any other jurisdiction agreed upon by the parties in writing.
- (b) The parties recognize that Leadnow promotes a flexible work environment that allows for remote work. Therefore, the parties agree to use remote methods of communication in the administration of the collective agreement where possible, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties.

1.2 Purpose of Agreement

It is the purpose of both parties to this agreement:

- (a) To improve relations between the Employer and the Union and provide settled and just conditions of employment.
- (b) To recognize the mutual value of joint discussions and negotiations in all matters pertaining to working conditions, employment, service.
- (c) To encourage efficiency in operations.
- (d) To promote the morale, well-being and security of all employees.

1.3 Future Legislation

In the event that any further legislation renders null and void or materially alters any provision of this agreement, the remaining provisions shall remain in effect for the term of the agreement, and the parties hereto shall negotiate a mutually agreeable provision to be substitute for the provision so rendered null and void or materially altered.

1.4 Other Legislation

Any claim by an employee or the Union pertaining to a violation of the *Human Rights Code*, or the *Employment Standards Act*, or any other labour relations legislation may be the subject of a grievance which shall be processed in accordance with Article 9 - Grievances. This section does not preclude an employee from filing a complaint under either provincial or federal Human Rights legislation. Employees shall be advised of the time limitations contained in the legislation.

1.5 Conflict with Regulations and/or Policies

In the event that there is a conflict between the context of this agreement and any regulation and/or policy made by the Employer, or on behalf of the Employer, this agreement shall take precedence over the said regulation and/or policy.

1.6 Use of Gender Neutral and Singular Terms

- (a) The words "employee" or "employees" and gender neutral terms are used throughout this agreement for convenience only and the same shall be construed as meaning and including employees of all gender identities.
- (b) Wherever the singular is used in the collective agreement, the same shall be construed as meaning the plural if the context requires unless otherwise specifically stated.

1.7 No Discrimination

The parties hereto subscribe to the principles of the BC *Human Rights Code* and any other applicable Human Rights law.

1.8 Trans Inclusion

The Union and Employer agree to the following general transition policy to cover transgender employees at work.

- (a) The Employer and the Union will make every effort to protect the privacy and safety of trans workers at all times, and during an accommodated transition.
- (b) Upon request by an employee, the Employer will update all employee records and directories to reflect the employee's name and gender change, and ensure that all workplace-related documents are also amended. This may include nametags, employee IDs, email addresses, organizational charts, health care coverage and schedules and human resources documents. No records of the employee's previous name, sex, gender or transition will be maintained unless required by law.
- (c) The Employer will provide safe washroom and change room facilities to all trans workers at its offices. The Employer and the Union recognizes that a trans worker has the right to use the washroom of their lived gender, regardless of whether or not they have sought or completed surgeries, or completed legal name or gender changes.
- (d) Health care benefit coverage for transition-related costs, and medical leaves of absence for transitioning employees, will be provided/accommodated on the same terms as any other medical cost or leave.
- (e) Upon notification by an employee wishing to transition or in need of a gender support plan, or at the request of the Union, the Employer will work with the Union and the employee to tailor a transition or support plan to the employee's particular needs.

ARTICLE 2 - UNION RECOGNITION AND RIGHTS

2.1 Bargaining Unit Defined

- (a) The bargaining unit consists of all work performed by the classifications listed in the wage grid, and includes all employees of Leadnow in the provinces of British Columbia and Ontario, in other provinces and territories, except for the Executive Director, Campaigns Director, Finance and Operations Manager, independent contractors, and any other as agreed to by the parties.
- (b) Incumbents of new positions established by the Employer shall automatically be included in the bargaining unit unless specifically excluded by mutual agreement or by virtue of a decision of the Labour Relations Board.

2.2 Bargaining Agent Recognition

The Employer recognizes the General Service Employees' Union as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining agent for all of its employees and dependent contractors for whom the Union is certified under the BC Labour Relations Code; or who are employed to perform work in Ontario in other provinces and territories in the classifications agreed to by the parties, and hereby agrees to negotiate with the Union, or any of its authorized committees, concerning all matters affecting the relationship between the parties, aiming towards a peaceful and amicable settlement of any differences that may arise between them.

2.3 Correspondence

- (a) All correspondence between the parties, arising out of this agreement or incidental thereto, shall pass to and from the Executive Director, the bargaining unit Chair, and the President of the Union or their designate.
- (b) An electronic copy of any correspondence between the Employer, or designate and any employee in the bargaining unit, pertaining to the interpretation, administration, or application of any part of this agreement shall be forwarded to the bargaining unit Chair and the President of the Union or designate.

2.4 No Other Agreements

No employee shall be required or permitted to make a written or verbal agreement with the Employer or their representative, which may conflict with the terms of this collective agreement.

2.5 Recognition and Rights of Stewards

- (a) The Employer recognizes the Union's right to select stewards to represent employees. The Union will appoint two stewards and two alternates. One steward and one alternate shall be appointed in each of the Vancouver and Toronto offices to represent each of the British Columbia and Ontario cohorts. The Union agrees to provide the Employer with a list of the employees designated as stewards for each location.
- (b) A steward, or their alternate, shall obtain permission from their immediate supervisor before leaving their work to perform their duties as a steward. Leave for this purpose shall be with pay. On resuming their normal duties, the steward shall notify their supervisor. If the time taken to carry out such work takes longer than three hours, then the steward will schedule additional time by mutual agreement with their supervisor.
- (c) The duties of stewards shall include:
 - (1) investigation of complaints;
 - (2) investigation of grievances and assisting any employee whom the steward represents in preparing and presenting a grievance in accordance with the grievance procedure;
 - supervision of balloting and other related functions during ratification votes involving the Employer and provided the ratification vote is held on the Employer's premises;
 - (4) carrying out the duties within the realm of assigned safety responsibilities for stewards who are members of safety committees;
 - (5) attending meetings at the request of the Employer.
 - (6) other responsibilities as needed
- (d) Meetings with stewards may be done face-to-face, by phone or online.

2.6 Communication to Members

- (a) Union representatives are entitled to distribute union literature and to convene union meetings on the Employer's premises with advance notice to the Employer.
- (b) The Employer agrees to provide an email distribution list for the purpose of communicating union-related information.

2.7 Union Insignia

A union member shall have the right to wear or display the recognized insignia of the Union.

2.8 Right to Refuse to Cross Picket Lines During Strike

An employee covered by this agreement shall have the right to refuse to cross a picket line or refuse to do the work of striking or locked out employees, or refuse to handle goods from an employer where a strike or lockout is in effect. Failure to cross such a picket line or to perform the work of striking or locked out employees or to handle goods from an employer where a strike or lockout is in effect by a member of this union shall not be considered a violation of this agreement, nor shall it be grounds for disciplinary action, other than loss of wages for the period involved.

2.9 Right of Fair Representation

The Union shall have the right at any time to have the assistance of representatives of the B.C. General Employees' Union or any other advisors when dealing or negotiating with the Employer. Such representative(s)/advisor(s) shall have access to the Employer's premises in order to deal with any matters arising out of this collective agreement with advanced written notice.

2.10 Board Representation

The Employer agrees to create one non-director position on the Board of Directors for a member of the bargaining unit. The position will carry voice but no vote.

2.11 Meetings with Employer Considered Time Worked

All time spent meeting with the Employer, including board meetings, shall be considered time worked and paid accordingly, or the equivalent time off shall be granted to the employees attending such meetings.

2.12 Time Off for Union Business

(a) Without Pay

Leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority will be granted:

- (1) to an elected or appointed representative of the Union to attend conventions of the Union and bodies to which the Union is affiliated;
- (2) to elected or appointed representatives of the Union to attend to union business, which requires them to leave their premises of employment;
- (3) to employees who are representatives of the Union on a bargaining committee to attend meetings of the bargaining committee;
- (4) to employees involved in a grievance or arbitration procedures;
- (5) for employees selected for employment with the Union for any period up to one year;
- (6) for an employee elected to the position of President or Treasurer of the B.C. General Employees' Union.
- (7) for an employee elected to any body to which the Union is affiliated for a period of one year and the leave shall be renewed upon request.

The employee will advise the Employer of such a leave of absence in writing as soon as practically possible.

(b) With Pay

Leave of absence with basic pay and without loss of seniority will be granted:

- (1) to stewards or their alternates, to perform their duties pursuant to Clause 2.5 (Recognition and Rights of Stewards);
- (2) to attend Joint Consultation Committee meetings.

(c) Procedure

It is understood that employees granted leave of absence pursuant to this sub clause shall receive their current rate of pay while on leave of absence with pay. Leave of absence granted under this article shall include sufficient travel time. While the Employer retains the right to manage (Article 6), the above leave of absence requests shall not be unreasonably denied. To facilitate the administration of paragraph (a) of this section, when leave without pay is granted, the leave shall be given with pay and the Union shall reimburse the Employer for the appropriate salary, and other benefit costs, including travel time incurred.

ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY

3.1 Union Security

- (a) All bargaining unit employees shall, as a condition of continued employment, become and remain members in good standing of the Union.
- (b) All employees as defined in Clause 2.1 (Bargaining Unit Defined) hired on or after execution of this agreement shall, as a condition of continued employment, become members in good standing of the Union.

3.2 Limitations on Contracting Out

- (a) The Employer will not contract out any work presently performed by the employees covered by this agreement which would result in the layoff of such employees, including a reduction in assigned workload.
- (b) The Employer agrees to provide, upon request of the Union, copies of all purchase service agreements to the bargaining unit Chair and to discuss the contracts that are of concern to the Union. The parties recognize the obligations of the Employer under *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Legislation* and agree to maintain confidentiality of all private information in those contracts.

ARTICLE 4 - CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES

- (a) The Employer shall, as a condition of employment, deduct from the wages or salary of each employee in the bargaining unit, as defined in Clause 2.1 (Bargaining Unit Defined) whether or not the employee is a member of the Union, the amount of the regular dues payable to the Union by a member of the Union.
- (b) The Employer shall deduct from any employee who is a member of the Union any assessments levied in accordance with the Union constitution and (or) bylaws and owing by the employee to the Union.
- (c) Deductions shall be made for each biweekly payroll period and membership dues or payments in lieu thereof shall be considered as owing in the period for which they are so deducted.

- (d) All deductions shall be remitted to the President of the Union not later than 28 days after the date of deduction and the Employer will provide to the Union with every regular dues remittance the information provided in the chart in Information Appendix 1. The information will be provided electronically in the file format ".csv".
- (e) The Employer will submit union dues remittance by EFT. The EFT will be submitted with an email to direct.deposit@bcgeu.ca including the EFT date and dollar amount.
- (f) Each EFT email will also include:
 - (1) Employer name
 - (2) Pay period type (eg. monthly, semi-monthly, biweekly, etc.)
 - (3) Pay period number
 - (4) Pay period end date
 - (5) Pay period pay date
- (g) Before the Employer is obliged to deduct any amount under (a) above, the Union must advise the Employer in writing of the amount of its regular dues. The amount so advised shall continue to be the amount to be deducted until changed by further written notice to the Employer signed by the President of the Union. When the change cannot reasonably be accommodated by the Employer's existing payroll system, then the cost of implementation shall be borne by the Union. In all cases, the Union shall provide the Employer with a reasonable notice period to implement any change.
- (h) From the date of the signing of this agreement and for its duration, no employee organization other than the Union shall be permitted to have membership dues or other monies deducted by the Employer from the pay of the employees in the bargaining unit.
- (i) The Employer shall supply each employee, without charge, a receipt for income tax purposes in the amount of the deductions paid to the Union by the employee in the previous year. Such receipts shall be provided to the employees prior to March 1st of the succeeding year.
- (j) An employee shall, as a condition of continued employment, complete an authorization form providing for the deduction from an employee's wages or salary the amount of the regular dues payable to the Union by a member of the Union.
- (k) The Employer will provide to the Union on a quarterly basis a report of employees who have ceased employment and the Record of Employment (ROE) Code used in Block 16 of the ROE form for each of those employees.

ARTICLE 5 - EMPLOYER AND UNION SHALL ACQUAINT NEW EMPLOYEES

5.1 Acquaint New Employees

The Employer agrees to acquaint new employees with the fact that a collective agreement is in effect, and with the conditions of employment set out in the articles dealing with Union Security and Check-off of Union Dues.

5.2 Union Orientation

On commencing employment, the employee shall be introduced to the elected steward. The steward or other representative of the Union shall be given an opportunity to interview each new employee within regular working hours, without loss of pay, for a maximum of 30 minutes during the first month of employment for the purpose of acquainting the new employee with the union membership.

ARTICLE 6 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The Union recognizes the sole and exclusive right of the Employer to manage, direct, control and organize all of its affairs and activities and to set, establish and alter all of its policies except as provided through this collective agreement.

ARTICLE 7 - EMPLOYER/UNION RIGHTS

7.1 Union and Employer Representation

The Employer shall not bargain with or enter into any agreement with an employee or group of employees in the bargaining unit. No employee or group of employees shall undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Employer without the proper authorization of the Union. In representing an employee or group of employees, an elected or appointed representative of the Union shall be the spokesperson.

7.2 Union Bargaining Committee

A union bargaining committee shall be elected by the bargaining unit membership, and shall consist of one representative from the Vancouver office British Columbia staff cohort and one representative from the Toronto office Ontario staff cohort, with the option of electing one alternate.

7.3 Union Representatives

The Employer agrees that access to its premises will be granted to elected officers and members of the staff of the Union for purposes of meeting with members, when conducting membership meetings, dealing or negotiating with the Employer, as well as for the purpose of investigating and assisting in the settlement of a grievance. Notice will be given to the Employer in advance and there will be no interruption to individual's work.

7.4 Time Off for Meetings

Any representative of the Union or the bargaining committee, who is in the employ of the Employer, shall have the right to attend meetings held within working hours without loss of pay.

7.5 Technical Information

- (a) The Employer agrees to provide to the Union such information that is available relating to employees in the bargaining unit, such as copies of policies, new or changed practices that affect members of the bargaining unit, information relating to health and welfare benefits plans, and contact information for our members.
- (b) The bargaining unit chair shall be provided with a copy of the annual budget approved by the Board of Directors of the Employer.

ARTICLE 8 - JOINT CONSULTATION COMMITTEE

8.1 Establishment of Joint Consultation Committee

A joint consultation committee shall be established consisting of an equal number of representatives of the Union and representatives of the Employer.

8.2 Function of the Committee

- (a) The parties understand and agree that the Joint Consultation Committee is not intended to serve as a supplement or an alternative to the grievance/arbitration process, nor to interfere with or attempt to re-negotiate any provisions of the agreement between the parties.
- (b) It is intended by the parties that the Joint Consultation Committee will be limited to serving as a vehicle for joint discussion and consultation, with a view to exploring possible solutions to mutual problems and concerns.

8.3 Meetings of Committee

- (a) The Committee shall meet at least once every two months or at the request of either party at a mutually agreeable time and place. Its members shall receive a notice and agenda of the meeting at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting. Employees shall not suffer any loss of pay for time spent with this committee. The Union may request a BCGEU staff representative to attend as a resource. Either party may bring as a guest another staff person for technical expertise.
- (b) Meetings may be conducted in the Vancouver office. Staff designated to participate and who are unable to attend in person may attend by phone, video conference, or other online method.

8.4 Minutes of Meeting

Minutes of each meeting of the Committee shall be prepared and an electronic copy provided to members as promptly as possible after the close of the meeting for approval. The parties agree to alternate the responsibility for minute taking and production. The Union will circulate to members the approved minutes from each meeting.

ARTICLE 9 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

9.1 Definition

A grievance is any alleged violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of any provision of this collective agreement.

9.2 Step 1 - Notice and Informal Discussion

- (a) In the first step of the grievance procedure, every effort will be made to settle the dispute with the designated supervisor through an informal discussion no later than 30 calendar days after the date on which they were notified orally, or in writing, of the action or circumstances giving rise to the grievance. The employee shall advise their steward either verbally or in writing the details of the grievance for the purpose of an informal discussion and resolution. Every effort shall be made to meet and resolve the grievance within seven days of the date the grievance was initially presented.
- (b) If the issue is not resolved through an informal discussion with the designated supervisor, then the employee may present a grievance at Step 1 of the grievance procedure. An employee who wishes to present a grievance at Step 1 will do so with the employer's designate no later than 30 calendar days from the date of the informal discussion in (a) above. An employee has the option of steward representation at Step 1. There will be no undue delay in convening the meeting, telephone and video conference will be utilized if the Union is unavailable in person.

9.3 Step 2 - Submission to Executive Director

If the grievance is not resolved at Step 1, the employee will present the grievance in writing at Step 2 to the employer's Designate within 14 calendar days of the informal discussion.

9.4 Time Limits to Respond at Step 2

Within 14 calendar days of receiving the grievance at Step 2, the employer's designate will respond in writing to the grievance. The employer's designate may also request to meet with the employee and their steward, which will amend the date to respond. There will be no undue delay in convening the meeting, telephone and video conference will be utilized if the Union is unavailable in person.

9.5 Time Limit to refer to Arbitration

Failing satisfactory settlement at Step 2 and pursuant to Article 10 - Arbitration, the President or designate may inform the Employer of their intention to submit the dispute to arbitration within:

- (a) 21 calendar days after the Employer's decision has been received; or
- (b) 21 calendar days after the Employer's decision was due.

9.6 Amending Time Limits

Time limits set forth above may be extended at any time by mutual agreement of the parties in writing.

9.7 Failure to Act

If the President of the Union, or designate, does not present a grievance to the next higher level within the prescribed time limits, the grievance will be deemed to have been abandoned. However, the Union shall not be deemed to have prejudiced its position on any further grievance.

9.8 Dismissal or Suspension Grievance

In the case of a dispute arising from an employee's dismissal or suspension, the grievance must commence at Step 2 of the grievance procedure within 21 calendar days of the date on which the suspension occurred, or within 21 calendar days of the employee receiving notice of dismissal or notice of suspension.

9.9 Deviation from Grievance Procedure

- (a) The Employer agrees that after a grievance has been initiated by the Union, the Employer's representative will not enter into discussion or negotiation with respect to the grievance, either directly or indirectly with the aggrieved employee, without the consent of the Union. In the event that after having initiated a grievance through the grievance procedure, an employee endeavours to pursue the same grievance through any other channel, then the Union agrees that pursuant to this article, the grievance shall be considered to have been abandoned.
- (b) Notwithstanding (a) above, an employee who has filed a Human Rights complaint, unrelated to harassment, shall not have their grievance deemed abandoned through the filing of the complaint. This does not apply to the informal step.

9.10 Policy Grievance

Where either party to this agreement disputes the general application, interpretation or alleged violation of this agreement, the dispute shall be discussed between the bargaining Principals within 30 calendar days of the occurrence. Where no satisfactory agreement is reached either party may submit the matter to arbitration as set out in Article 10 - Arbitration.

ARTICLE 10 - ARBITRATION

10.1 Notification

The parties agree that all matters in dispute shall be referred to a third-party in the Province of British Columbia. When either party requests that a grievance be submitted to a third party for resolution, the request shall be sent by facsimile or by email, and will be addressed to the other party of the agreement.

10.2 Arbitrator

- (a) The parties agree that matters referred to arbitration shall be dealt with by a mutually agreed upon arbitrator.
- (b) The parties agree to Elaine Doyle, Arne Peltz, Koml Kandola and Mark Brown on a rotational basis.
- (c) The party requesting that a grievance be submitted to arbitration shall notify the Arbitrator within five days of notifying the other party of its intent, who shall hear and determine the matter without any undue delay.

10.3 Power of the Arbitrator

The powers of the single arbitrator is limited to the application and interpretation of the collective agreement as written and the Arbitrator is not authorized to make any decision inconsistent with the provisions of this agreement nor to alter, modify or amend any part of this agreement.

10.4 Authority of the Arbitrator

The parties to the arbitration recognize that the authority of the Arbitrator is set out in the BC *Labour Relations Code* or the Ontario *Labour Relations Act*.

10.5 Expenses of the Arbitrator

Each party will pay one-half of the fees and expenses of the Arbitrator.

10.6 Amending of Time Limits

The time limits in both the grievance and arbitration procedure may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties in writing.

10.7 Expedited Arbitration

- (a) The parties agree that matters referred to expedited arbitration shall be dealt with by the arbitrators listed in Clause 10.2 (b), and if none of them are available then by a mutually agreed to arbitrator.
- (b) Prior to selecting an arbitrator and setting any grievance down for expedited arbitration, the parties will meet to attempt to resolve the grievance.
- (c) All grievances shall be considered suitable for and resolved by expedited arbitration except grievances in the nature of:
 - (1) dismissals;
 - (2) rejection on probation;
 - (3) suspensions in excess of 20 workdays;
 - (4) policy grievances;
 - (5) grievances requiring substantial interpretation;
 - (6) grievances relating to Article 15 Hours of Work;

- (7) grievances requiring presentation of extrinsic evidence;
- (8) grievances where a party intends to raise a preliminary objection.

By mutual agreement, a grievance falling into any of these categories may be placed into the expedited arbitration process.

- (d) The Arbitrator shall hear the grievances and shall render a decision within 20 working days of such hearings. No written reasons for the decision shall be provided beyond that which the Arbitrator deems appropriate to convey a decision.
- (e) Expedited arbitration awards shall be of no precedential value and shall not thereafter be referred to by the parties in respect of any other matter.
- (f) All settlements of expedited arbitration cases prior to hearing shall be without prejudice.
- (g) A grievance determined by either party to fall within one of the categories listed in (b) above, may be removed from the expedited arbitration process at any time prior to hearing and forwarded to a full arbitration hearing per Clause 10.2 (Arbitrator) by mutual agreement.
- (h) The parties shall equally share the cost of the fees and expenses of the Arbitrator and hearing rooms.

10.8 Administration

- (a) If a dispute necessitating the involvement of the Ontario Labour Relations Board or the BC Labour Relations Board arises, the parties agree to written submissions where possible and/or utilize the electronic hearing options that may be available.
- (b) The parties will seek an arbitrator who is agreeable to electronic hearing options. The parties agree to lessen the costs of the administration of this agreement where feasible.
- (c) All costs associated with these arrangements will be borne equally by the parties.

ARTICLE 11 - DISCHARGE, SUSPENSION AND DISCIPLINE

11.1 Discipline Procedure

- (a) No employee shall be disciplined, suspended or discharged except for just cause, and an employee shall be discharged only upon the written authority of the Employer.
- (b) When an employee is discharged or suspended, the employee shall be informed in writing in the presence of their steward if available. If a meeting on the Employer's property is not advisable for safety reasons, such meeting may be held at a mutually-agreeable location. Phone and video communication may be used to save undue delay. In an instance where such a meeting is not possible due to bona fide safety concerns of either party, the employee's copy of the correspondence will be sent by registered mail to the employee's last recorded address. Likewise, a copy of the employee's letter will be delivered to the bargaining unit Chair.

11.2 Burden of Proof

In cases of discharge and/or discipline, the burden of proof of just cause shall rest with the Employer.

11.3 Right to have Steward Present

(a) An employee shall have the right to have their steward present at any discussion with supervisory personnel, which the employee believes might be the basis of disciplinary action. Where a supervisor

intends to interview an employee for disciplinary purposes, the supervisor shall so notify the employee in advance of the purpose of the interview in order that the employee may contact their steward to be present at the interview. There will be no undue delay due to availability - phone and/or video can be utilized for meetings. This clause shall not apply to those discussions that are of an operational nature and do not involve disciplinary action.

(b) A steward or local union officer shall have the right to consult with a BCGEU staff representative and to have them present at any discussion with supervisory personnel, which might be the basis of disciplinary action. There will be no undue delay due to availability - phone and/or video can be utilized for meetings.

11.4 Personnel Records

- (a) The personnel records of an employee, or former employee, shall not be shared in any manner with any other employee, employer or agency, without the prior written consent of the employee concerned.
- (b) An employee shall have the right at any time to have access to and review their personnel record with advanced notice. Any disagreement as to the accuracy of information contained in the file may be subject to the Grievance Procedure and the eventual resolution thereof shall become part of the employee's record.
- (c) No evidence from the employee's record may be introduced as evidence in any hearing of which the employee was not aware at the time of filing.
- (d) An employee shall have the right to make copies of any material contained in their personnel record.

11.5 Use of Demotion as Discipline

Demotion shall not be used as a disciplinary measure.

11.6 Right to Grieve Other Disciplinary Action

Disciplinary action grievable by employees shall include written censures, letters of reprimand and adverse reports, which form the basis of disciplinary action. Employees shall be given a copy of any such document placed on their file. Should employees dispute any such entry in their file, they shall be entitled to recourse through the grievance procedure and the eventual resolution thereof shall become part of their personnel record. All entries related to discipline, other than suspensions, shall be removed from the employee's file after the expiration of 12 months from the date it was issued, provided there has not been any further employment infraction. This proviso does not apply to documentation resulting from the final disposition of a sexual harassment complaint where there was a finding of sexual harassment. The Employer agrees not to introduce as evidence in any hearing any document from the file of an employee, the existence of which the employee was not aware at the time of filing.

ARTICLE 12 - SENIORITY

12.1 Seniority Defined

- (a) Seniority is defined as the length of service in the bargaining unit based on all hours worked, and shall include service with the Employer prior to the certification or recognition of the Union.
- (b) Seniority accrued as a temporary employee will only be used when determining seniority as a regular employee.

12.2 Seniority List

The Employer shall maintain a seniority list showing the current classification and the current seniority hours. Where two or more employees commence work on the same day, preference shall be in accordance with the date of application for their position. An up-to-date seniority list shall be sent to the Union and posted on the bulletin board in January and July of each year.

12.3 Loss of Seniority

- (a) An employee shall not lose seniority if they are absent from work because of sickness, disability, accident, layoff or leave of absence approved by the Employer.
- (b) An employee shall only lose their seniority in the event:
 - (1) they are discharged for just cause and is not reinstated;
 - they fail to return to work within 15 working days following a layoff and after receiving notice by registered mail to do so, unless through sickness or other just cause. The refusal of an employee to accept recall to such employment will not result in termination of seniority and will not prejudice their right to recall in the future. Laid off employees engaged in alternate employment and who are recalled shall be permitted to give their current employer reasonable notice of termination to accept the recall;
 - (3) they are laid off for a period longer than 12 months.

ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTINGS AND STAFF CHANGES

13.1 Job Postings

- (a) When a new position is created, or when a vacancy of a temporary or permanent nature occurs, the Employer shall notify the Union in writing and post notice of the position via staff email memo for a minimum of five days, so that all members know about the vacancy or new position. Positions may be advertised externally within a minimum of seven days of the vacancy.
- (b) Vacancies may be posted externally at the same time as internally. All candidates will be considered at the same time.
- (c) In the event that the qualifications of the external and internal applicants for a given position are relatively equal, priority in appointment shall be given to the internal applicant.

13.2 Information in Postings

Such notice will contain the following information: nature of position, qualifications, required knowledge and education, skills, hours of work, salary rate, classification and duration of assignment for vacancies of a temporary nature. Such qualifications and requirements are identified in Clause 13.3 (Selection Process).

13.3 Selection Process

The initial assessment of applicants shall be a process which appraises the knowledge, skills, and abilities of eligible applicants. The Employer will consider applicants issue expertise, technology and engagement based experience and knowledge and other experience such as but not limited to current software, information technology, social media, interview performance and references. The weighting of these factors shall be consistently applied for the purpose of selecting a successful applicant. Where all factors are relatively equal, seniority shall be the determining factor.

13.4 Staff on Selection Panel

A staff person from the bargaining unit will sit as an observer on selection panels.

13.5 Probation for Newly Hired Employees

- (a) A newly hired regular employee shall be on probation for the first three months of their employment. During the probationary period, the employee shall be entitled to all rights and benefits of this agreement. After completion of the probationary period, seniority shall be effective from the original date of employment.
- (b) Probationary employees who are required to meet with the Employer to review their performance during their probationary period are entitled to have a steward present during such discussions. For a steward to be present at such a meeting, the employee shall provide advance written notice to the Employer, and both the employee and the steward must be available at the time of the scheduled meeting.
- (c) The Employer may reject a probationary employee for just cause. The Employer will provide then reasons for the rejection in writing. A rejection during probation will not be considered a dismissal for the purpose of Clause 11.1 (Discipline Procedure) of this agreement. The test of just cause for rejection will be a test of suitability of the probationary employee for continued employment in the position to which they have been appointed.

13.6 Trial Period

- (a) Where the successful applicant is chosen from the bargaining unit to fill any vacancy, the employee shall be given a trial period of one month, during which time they will receive the necessary training for the position. The Employer shall not curtail the trial period without just cause, before it has run its full course.
- (b) An employee serving a trial period shall be declared successful in the position after the period of one month. In the event the successful applicant proves unsatisfactory in the position during the trial period, or if the employee is unable or unwilling to continue to perform the duties of the new position, they shall be returned to their former position, wage or salary rate, without loss of seniority. Any other employee promoted or transferred because of this re-arrangement of positions shall also be returned to their former position, wage or salary rate, without loss of seniority.
- (c) The trial period may be extended up to one month by mutual agreement between the Employer and the employee.

13.7 Changes in Classification

(a) The Employer shall prepare a new job description whenever a job is created or whenever the duties of a job change. All new job descriptions will be shared with the Union.

When the duties of any job are changed or increased, or where the Union and/or an employee feels a job is unfairly or incorrectly classified, or when a new job is created or established, the rate of pay shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union.

If the parties are unable to agree on the reclassification and/or rate of pay for the job in question, such dispute shall be submitted to grievance and arbitration for determination. The new rate shall become retroactive to the time the new position was first filled by the employee or the date of change in job duties

(b) All job descriptions will be reviewed annually.

ARTICLE 14 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

14.1 Definition of Layoff

A layoff shall be defined as a reduction in the workforce or a reduction in the regular hours of work of a least 25% as defined in this agreement.

- (a) Both parties recognize that job security shall increase in proportion to length of service. Therefore, in the event of a layoff, employees shall be laid off in the reverse order of their classification seniority.
- (b) An employee about to be laid off may bump any employee with less seniority in any classification, provided they have the necessary skills, abilities and qualifications the Employer requires as described in Clause 13.3 (Selection Process).

14.2 Pre-Layoff Canvass

Prior to layoff of regular employee(s), the Employer may, at its option, canvass the bargaining unit to invite:

- (a) voluntary reduction of hours;
- (b) resignation with severance as provided for in Clause 14.4 (Severance); or
- (c) where eligible, early retirement.

The final decision regarding the layoff rests with the Employer.

14.3 Recall Procedure

- (a) Employees shall be recalled by classification. The recall period shall be 12 months.
- (b) An employee being offered a recall position, by email and/or phone call, will have five business days to respond to the offer. If they do not respond, the position will be offered to the next qualified person on the recall list.
- (c) The Employer will confirm contact information for the members on the recall list. If the member's information should change, it is the employee's responsibility to update the information with the Employer.
- (d) The position will not be posted externally until the recall list has been exhausted.

14.4 Severance

Employees who are about to be laid off may choose to sever their employment and receive severance pay based on total years of service as follows:

- (a) More than three months of completed employment, one week's current salary;
- (b) More than one year of completed employment, two weeks' current salary;
- (c) for each completed year thereafter, two weeks' current salary.

Employees will not receive an amount greater than four months' current salary.

14.5 Advance Notice of Layoff

(a) Unless legislation is more favorable to the employees, the Employer shall notify employees who are to be laid off 60 calendar days prior to the effective date of layoff. If the employee has not had the

opportunity to work the days as provided in this article, they shall be paid for the days for which work was not made available.

- (b) If an employee resigns from their employment prior to the end of the 60 day notice period referenced in (a) above, the employee shall forfeit all seniority, rights to recall and severance.
- (c) The Employer will give notice to the Union within seven days of receipt of such information of any changes to the funding.

14.6 Grievance on Layoffs and Recalls

Grievances concerning layoffs and recalls shall be initiated at Step 3 of the Grievance Procedure.

ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK

15.1 Regular Working Hours

- (a) The parties agree that the regular working hours shall be Monday to Thursday based on eight hours per day and 32 hours per week.
- (b) Employees work schedule will only be changed by mutual agreement.

15.2 Flexible Work Schedule

The Employer and the Union recognize that employees have responsibilities which require them to have flexibility in their work schedules to complete their work. The parties therefore agree that flexible hours and work locations shall be maintained, and such arrangements shall be consistent with the following:

- (a) The manager is aware of the flexible work arrangement.
- (b) Subject to Article 17 Paid Holidays, Regular Full-time employees shall work 64 hours in any 14 day period.
- (c) Regular hours worked shall not exceed 64 hours in a 14 calendar day period.
- (d) Starting and finishing times for employees working a flexible work schedule shall be unscheduled around a mutually agreed core period.
- (e) Travel on the Employer's business shall be compensated at straight-time and is subject to Clause 15.2 (c) above.
- (f) Currently a flexible work schedule is applied organization wide. Changes to the flexible work arrangements will be discussed at a Joint Consultation Committee meeting, and the Employer will provide 30 days' notice of any change.

15.3 Part-Time Employees

- (a) Employees whose regular hours of work are eight (8) hours or more per week, but less than 32 hours a week shall be considered part-time employees.
- (b) Part-time employees working Flexible Work Schedules in 15.2 will be prorated.

15.4 Rest Periods and Meal Breaks

(a) An employee shall be permitted a paid rest period of 15 minutes in both the first one-half and second one-half of each workday. An employee who works in excess of eight hours in a workday shall be entitled to an additional 15 minute paid rest period.

(b) An employee who works in excess of four hours in a workday shall be entitled to a 30 minute unpaid meal break.

ARTICLE 16 - OVERTIME

16.1 Definitions

- (a) "Overtime" means work authorized in advance by the Employer and performed by an employee outside of daily and weekly hours as described in Article 15 Hours of Work.
- (b) "Straight-time rate" means the hourly rate of remuneration.
- (c) "Time and one-half" means one and one-half times the straight-time rate.
- (d) "Double-time" means two times the straight-time rate.
- (e) "Day of rest" means a day where an employee is not scheduled to work. An employee will not be asked to change a day of rest with fewer than seven days' notice.

16.2 Overtime Entitlement

An employee shall be entitled to compensation at the applicable overtime rates for pre-authorized overtime outside the daily and weekly hours noted in Clause 15.1 (Regular Working Hours), specifically hours worked in excess of eight hours per day or 64 hours in a 14 calendar day period. Pre-authorization must be communicated through email between the employee and their manager.

16.3 Recording of Overtime

Employees shall record starting and finishing times for overtime worked on a form determined by the Employer.

16.4 Overtime Compensation

- (a) Overtime that is pre-approved by mutual agreement between the employee and supervisor shall be compensated at time and one-half for hours worked in excess of eight hours per day or 64 hours in a 14 calendar day period. At no point will any employee be required to work more than six consecutive days without a day of rest.
- (b) Overtime that is approved and occurs on an employee's day of rest shall be compensated at double-time for all hours worked.
- (c) The employee shall be compensated for banked time accumulated up to eight hours in any 14 day period in equivalent time off, as per Clause 16.4(a), to be taken within a 45 day period.
- (d) In the event that the employee's banked time has not been taken within the 45 day period; or in the event that the employee has accumulated more than eight hours of banked time within a 14 day period, the employee shall have the option of being paid out for the outstanding or excess banked time.
- (e) Overtime banked shall not exceed 16 hours at any time. except by mutual agreement.
- (f) Any banked overtime due at year-end for that fiscal year may must be scheduled within 30 days of December 31. Every effort shall be made to schedule banked time. Employees may request to carry over any unscheduled banked time or to be paid out. Banked time will not be carried over past 12 months.
- (g) Any overtime still owing upon termination of employment shall be paid out.

(h) Overtime shall be calculated in 15 minute increments.

16.5 Right to Refuse Overtime

All employees shall have the right to refuse to work overtime, except when required to do so in emergency situations that are beyond the Employer's control, without being subject to disciplinary action for so refusing.

16.6 Rest Interval

An employee required to work overtime beyond their regularly scheduled shift shall be entitled to eight clear hours between the end of the overtime worked and the start of their next regular shift. If eight clear hours are not provided, overtime rates shall apply to the portion of the shift that falls within the eight hour rest period.

16.7 Child Care Expenses Outside of Regular Workday

Should an employee be required to be away from their home on the Employer's business outside of their regular workday, and the employee consequently incurs child care expenses, the Employer agrees to reimburse the costs of receipted child care expenses for the period over and above their regular workday where such expenses are incurred. Such reimbursement must be approved in advance of the expense being incurred. Such reimbursement shall only apply where no one else who would normally participate in the child care can provide the child care. The receipt shall be a signed statement including the date(s), the hourly rate charged, the hours of care provided and the name of the caregiver/agency.

16.8 Review of Workload

- (a) The Employer agrees to review, at the request of the Union or employees, the workload of any employee or group of employees who consistently request(s) and/or logs overtime.
- (b) Disputes arising out of this article shall be referred to the Joint Consultation Committee.

ARTICLE 17 - PAID HOLIDAYS

17.1 Paid Holidays

(a) The Employer recognizes the following as paid holidays:

New Year's Day Labour Day

Family Day National Day for Truth and Reconciliation

Good Friday Thanksgiving Day
Easter Monday Remembrance Day
Victoria Day Christmas Day
Canada Day Boxing Day

Civic Holiday

and any other day declared or proclaimed as a holiday by the federal, provincial or municipal government.

- (b) Family Day can be taken in accordance with the province of work. Employees may also opt to take the Civic Holiday in August or St. Jean the Baptiste Day, depending on the province in which they work.
- (c) A paid holiday that falls on a weekend may be scheduled on a different day as agreed to by the Joint Consultation Committee.

(d) Any of the above holidays which fall within the provisions of Clause 18.2 (Year-End Office Closure) shall be deemed to have been paid, if taken in accordance with the provisions of Clause 18.2.

17.2 Compensation for Paid Holidays Falling on Friday/Saturday/Sunday

When any of the above noted paid holiday in Article 17.1 falls on Friday, Saturday or Sunday, the employee shall receive a day's pay or the equivalent scheduled day off as agreed by the Joint Consultation Committee.

17.3 Compensation for Work on Paid Holiday

Employees who perform work on a paid holiday shall be paid in accordance with Clause 16.4 (Overtime Compensation) and shall receive an additional day off in lieu of working the paid holiday. Overtime compensation and lieu time shall be prorated for part-time employees.

ARTICLE 18 - VACATIONS

18.1 Vacation Entitlement

An employee shall receive an annual vacation with pay in accordance with the employee's years of employment as follows:

(a)	Less than 1 year	15 working days
(b)	1 year	16 working days
(c)	2 years	17 working days
(d)	3 years	18 working days
(e)	4 years	19 working days
(f)	5 years	20 working days
(g)	6 Years	21 working days
(h)	7 years	22 working days
(i)	8 years	23 working days
(j)	9 years	24 working days
(k)	10 years	25 working days
(I)	15 years	30 working days

18.2 Year End Office Closure

The parties recognize that Leadnow offices may be closed at year end for one week from Christmas Eve day through New Year's Day. Employees will be paid at straight-time for the time off during the closure.

- (a) Employees who are required to work during the closure will be notified by the Employer by September 1st. The Employer will seek volunteers by way of expression of interest prior to September 1st.
- (b) The Employer will ensure that the employees who are required to work during the closure will, as part of their compensation, receive a full week of consecutive days off immediately adjacent to the closure.

18.3 Vacation Carryover

An employee may carry over up to five days' vacation leave per vacation year, but must be scheduled in the following calendar year and cannot carry over multiple years. Every effort shall be made to schedule vacation time. To ensure this, the Employer may schedule such time off.

18.4 Compensation for Holidays Falling within Vacation Schedule

If a paid holiday falls or is observed during an employee's vacation period, they shall be allowed an additional vacation day with pay at a time designated by the employee.

18.5 Vacation Pay

Vacation pay for each week of vacation shall be at the employee's regular rate of pay.

18.6 Vacation Pay on Termination

- (a) An employee who terminates their employment at any time in the vacation year, prior to using their vacation, shall be entitled to a proportionate payment of salary or wages in lieu of such vacation, prior to termination.
- (b) Where the Employer terminates the employment of an employee, by layoff or otherwise, and that employee has been granted more vacation with pay than they have earned, they are considered to have earned the amount of vacation with pay granted to them.
- (c) Where the employee terminates their employment and the employee has been granted more vacation with pay than they have earned, the employee will repay to the Employer that portion of their vacation which has been granted but not earned.

18.7 Unused Vacation on Death

- (a) Earned but unused vacation entitlement shall be made payable upon termination due to death, to the employee's estate.
- (b) If an employee has been granted more vacation with pay than they have earned dies, the employee is considered to have earned the amount of vacation with pay granted.

18.8 Vacation Pay on Retirement

On retirement an employee shall be entitled to the same vacation or vacation pay, which would have been earned if the employee had continued in employment to the end of the calendar year.

18.9 Vacation Schedules

- (a) Employees must submit their requests for vacation to their manager. The Employer shall respond to vacation requests within two weeks. Vacation schedules shall be posted once they have been approved, and shall not be changed without the consent of the affected employees.
- (b) Vacation requests shall be approved on a first-come first served basis.

18.10 Reinstatement of Vacation Credits

Where an employee qualifies for sick leave, bereavement, or any other approved leave during their period of vacation, there shall be no deduction from vacation credits for such absence. The period of vacation so displaced will be reinstated and rescheduled by mutual agreement between the Employer and employee.

ARTICLE 19 - SICK LEAVE PROVISIONS

19.1 Sick Leave Defined

Sick leave means the period of time an employee is absent from work with full pay by virtue of being sick or disabled, exposed to a contagious disease, or under examination or treatment of a physician,

chiropractor, or dentist, or because of an accident for which compensation is not payable through WorkSafeBC or the Ontario Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB).

19.2 Sick Leave Entitlement

Full-time employees will receive 10 days of paid sick time each calendar year. Unused sick leave shall accrue for the Employee's future benefits to a maximum of 25 days.

19.3 Employee to Inform the Employer

- (a) The employee shall inform their manager as soon as possible of their inability to report to work due to illness or injury.
- (b) The employee shall make every reasonable effort to inform the Employer of their return to work in advance of that date.

19.4 Long-Term Disability

All employees that meet the eligibility requirements will have access to a Long-Term Disability Plan as outlined in Article 24 - Health and Welfare Benefits.

19.5 Workers' Compensation Benefits

- (a) Employees shall receive directly from WorkSafeBC/WSIB any wage loss benefits to which they may be entitled.
- (b) An employee in receipt of WorkSafeBC/WSIB benefits shall continue to be covered by the employee health and welfare benefit plans as outlined in Article 24 Health and Welfare Benefits.

ARTICLE 20 - SPECIAL AND OTHER LEAVE

20.1 Religious Holidays

All employees are entitled to a maximum of three days of paid leave per calendar year for the observance of religious holidays, not listed under Clause 17.1 (a) (Paid Holidays).

20.2 Personal Days

Regular employees may take up to five paid days per calendar year outside of regular vacation time and statutory holidays. Employees must provide their manager with at least two days' notice in writing to take such leave where possible.

20.3 Family Responsibility Leave

All employees shall be entitled up to five days of unpaid leave to deal with family responsibilities.

20.4 Bereavement Leave

An employee shall be granted five days of paid leave in the event of the loss of a family member or loved one. The days allowed for bereavement are two incidents per year to a maximum of 10 days. Extra days of paid leave for bereavement may be granted upon approval from the manager to cover such circumstances as excessive travel time or multiple bereavement.

20.5 Critical Illness or Injury Leave and Compassionate Care Leave

- (a) An employee is entitled to critical illness or injury leave and compassionate care leave in accordance with applicable legislation (reference the *Employment Standards Act* and the *Employment Insurance Act*).
- (b) At a minimum, the leave entitlements will be:
 - (1) a leave of absence without pay for up to 37 weeks to provide care for a critically ill or injured child and up to 17 weeks to provide care for a critically ill or injured adult.
 - a leave of absence without pay for up to 28 weeks to provide care or support to a family member who is gravely ill and who has a significant risk of death within 26 weeks.
- (c) For the purpose of this article, "family member" includes, but is not limited to: immediate family, relatives and individuals related by marriage, common-law partnership, or any legal parent-child relationship.
- (d) Employee's service while on the above approved leave of absence for critical illness or injury leave and compassionate care will be deemed continuous with associated benefits provided.
- (e) Should an employee require additional time to care for a gravely ill family member, additional leave may be granted beyond the period specified. Such additional leave shall be in accordance with the applicable *Employment Standards Act*.

20.6 Court Appearances

Employees who are required to serve as jurors or witnesses in any provincial or federal court, provided such court action is not occasioned by the employee's private affairs, shall be granted leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority for the duration of the court duty.

20.7 Leave for Incarceration

If an employee is incarcerated as a result of participation in activities under the direction of Leadnow Society, the Employer agrees to grant paid leave of absence without loss of seniority for the duration of the incarceration.

20.8 Leave of Absence for Full-Time Public Duties

- (a) The Employer recognizes the right of an employee to participate in public affairs. Therefore, upon written request, the Employer shall allow leave of absence without pay and without loss or accrual of seniority so that the employee may be a candidate in federal, provincial, municipal or Indigenous elections.
- (b) For employees elected to a public office, the Employer shall, upon written request, allow leave of absence without pay and without loss or accrual of seniority for one elected term, if:
 - (1) The employee elected as an independent; or
 - (2) The employee agrees to cease all public ties with a political party upon returning to Leadnow.

20.9 Elections

Any employee eligible to vote in a federal, provincial, municipal or Indigenous election or a referendum shall be granted time off consistent with relevant legislation.

20.10 General Leave

An employee shall be entitled to apply for a leave of absence without pay and without loss of seniority. Such requests shall be in writing and will be subject to approval by the Employer. The period of leave shall be determined by mutual agreement.

20.11 Leave for Personal Work

Employees shall be permitted to engage in gainful employment elsewhere upon mutual agreement between the Employer and the employee, upon approval from the Employer, so long as such work does not conflict with the nature of the work of the Employer or increase the cost of the Employer's operation.

20.12 Benefits During Unpaid Leave

An employee who takes leave under Clauses 20.7 (Full-Time Public Duties) or 20.9 (General Leave) may elect to remain enrolled for up to 12 months in the extended health, dental and group life benefits available under this agreement, subject to the acceptance of the enrolment by the benefits provider (insurer). Employees who make this election shall pay the Employer's cost of these benefits.

ARTICLE 21 - DOMESTIC ABUSE

21.1 Definitions

"domestic violence" means:

- (a) an act of abuse between an individual and a current or former intimate partner, between an individual and a child who resides with the individual by blood, marriage, foster care or adoption, whether the abuse is physical, sexual, emotional or psychological, and may include an act of coercion, stalking, harassment or financial control, or
- (b) a threat or attempt to do an act described in (a) above.

"intimate partner" includes a spouse, boyfriend or girlfriend, dating partner, sexual partner or an individual with whom one has a relationship similar to the relationships enumerated in this definition.

"sexual violence" means any conduct of a sexual nature or act targeting an individual's sexuality, gender identity or gender expression that is committed, threatened or attempted against an individual without the individual's consent and includes sexual assault, sexual harassment, stalking, indecent exposure, voyeurism, sexual exploitation and sexual solicitation, and may include an act that occurs online or in the context of domestic or intimate partner relationships.

21.2 Exception to Entitlements

Entitlements to accommodation and leave in this article do not apply with respect to domestic violence or sexual violence committed by the employee.

21.3 Place of Work Accommodation

- (a) If an employee or the employee's child has experienced domestic violence or sexual violence, and as a result the employee needs to work at a place of work other than where the Employer has assigned the employee, the Employer shall accommodate the employee's need unless it would cause the Employer undue hardship.
- (b) The Employer may require an employee who needs accommodation under Clause 21.3(a) to provide evidence reasonable in the circumstances that the employee needs accommodation.

21.4 Hours of Work Accommodation

- (a) If an employee or the employee's child has experienced domestic violence or sexual violence, and as a result the employee needs fewer hours of work or needs to work at different times than the Employer has assigned the employee, the Employer shall accommodate the employee's needs unless it would cause the Employer undue hardship.
- (b) The Employer may require an employee who needs accommodation under Clause 21.3(a) to provide evidence reasonable to the circumstances that the employee needs accommodation.

21.5 Domestic Violence Leave

- (a) An employee is entitled to a leave of absence of a reasonable duration if the employee or the employee's child experienced domestic violence or sexual violence.
- (b) An employee is only entitled to a leave of absence under Clause 21.5(a) if the employee uses the leave of absence for one or more of the following purposes:
 - (1) To seek medical attention for the employee or the employee's child in respect of a physical or psychological injury or disability caused by the violence; or
 - (2) To obtain services for the employee or the employee's child in respect of the violence from a victim services organization, domestic violence shelter, rape crisis centre, sexual assault centre or other social services program or community agency; or
 - (3) To obtain psychological or other professional counselling for the employee or the employee's child in respect of the violence; or
 - (4) To relocate temporarily or permanently for the purpose of making future violence against the employee or the employee's child less likely; or
 - (5) To seek legal or law enforcement assistance for the employee or the employee's child, including preparing for or participating in any civil, criminal or administrative proceeding related to or resulting from the violence.
- (c) If an employee has a physical or psychological injury or disability caused by the violence that requires accommodation or work absence, the employee follows the process outside this article that would apply to any injured or disabled employee under this collective agreement.
- (d) The first 10 days of leave taken under Clause 21.5 (Domestic Violence Leave) is paid leave. Leave taken under Clause 21.5 (Domestic Violence Leave) beyond 10 days is unpaid.
- (e) Leave taken under Clause 21.5 may be taken in 30 minute increments.
- (f) If the employee is a casual employee, the employee's daily hours for each day in Clause 21.5 (Domestic Violence Leave) shall be the total hours paid to the employee in the 12 weeks immediately before the day on which the employee began the leave(s) of absence under this clause, divided by 60.
- (g) An employee who wishes to take leave under this section shall advise the Employer in writing that the employee will be doing so. If the employee must begin the leave before advising the Employer, the employee shall advise the Employer of the leave in writing as soon as possible after beginning it.
- (h) An employer may require an employee who takes a leave under this section to provide evidence reasonable in the circumstances that the employee is entitled to the leave.

ARTICLE 22 - PREGNANCY AND PARENTAL LEAVE

22.1 Pregnancy Leave

Employees are eligible for unpaid leave of absence from employment subject to the conditions in this article. Every employee who intends to take a leave of absence under this article will give at least four weeks' notice in writing to the Employer unless there is a valid reason why such notice cannot be given and will inform the Employer in writing of the length of leave intended to be taken.

Each employee who wishes to change the effective date of approved leave will give four weeks' notice of such change unless there is a valid reason why such notice cannot be given.

- (a) The employee will be granted leave for a period not longer than 17 consecutive weeks.
- (b) The period of pregnancy leave will commence not earlier than 13 weeks before the expected date of delivery and end later than 17 weeks after the leave begins.
- (c) A request for shorter period under Article 22.1(b) must be given in writing to the Employer at least 21 days before the date that the employee indicates they intend to return to work, and the employee must furnish the Employer with a certificate of a qualified medical practitioner stating that the employee is able to resume work.
- (d) The Employer will, upon the request of the employee, modify the commencement of pregnancy leave for any period approved in writing by a qualified medical practitioner.
- (e) An employee may be required to commence a pregnancy leave where the duties of the employee cannot reasonably be performed because of the pregnancy and to continue the leave of absence until the employee provides a certificate from a qualified medical practitioner stating that they are able to perform their duties. However, where practical, the Employer will provide the employee with an opportunity to continue employment with appropriate alternative duties, before requiring an employee to take a leave of absence.
- (f) Pregnancy leave may be extended for up to an additional six months for health reasons where a qualified medical practitioner's certificate is presented.

22.2 Pregnancy Leave Allowance

- (a) A regular employee who has passed their probation and qualifies for Pregnancy Leave pursuant to Clause 22.1 shall be paid a Pregnancy Leave Allowance.
- (b) In order to receive this allowance, the employee must provide to the Employer, proof that they have applied for and are in receipt of employment insurance benefits pursuant to the *Employment Insurance Act*. An employee disentitled or disqualified from receiving employment insurance benefits is not eligible for Pregnancy Leave Allowance.
- (c) Pregnancy Leave Allowance will consist of 15 weekly payments, equivalent to the difference between the employment insurance gross benefits and any other earnings received by the employee and 85% of the employee's basic pay.

22.3 Parental Leave

- (a) Upon application, an employee will be granted leave of absence following the birth or adoption of the employee's child. The employee will have to furnish a medical certificate or other evidence stating the date of birth of the child or, where applicable, proof of adoption.
- (b) For the purpose of this article a "parent" includes:

- (1) A pregnant parent;
- (2) An adoptive parent (whether or not the adoption has been legally finalized); or
- (3) A person who is in a committed relationship with a parent of the child and who plans on treating the child as their own.
- (c) Upon application, employees will be granted parental leave as follows:
 - (1) In the case of the pregnant parent, up to 61 consecutive weeks commencing immediately following the end of the pregnancy leave under Article 22(Pregnancy and Parental Leave);
 - (2) In the case of the other primary parent or the common-law partner of the pregnant parent, up to 62 consecutive weeks commencing within the 78 week period following the birth of the child;
 - (3) In the case of an adopting parent, up to 62 consecutive weeks commencing within the 78 week period following the date the adopted child comes into the actual care and custody of the parent or within the two week period preceding the date the adopted child comes into the actual care and custody of the parent.
- (d) If the child suffers from a physical, psychological, or emotional condition, the employee is entitled to an additional period of parental leave of up to five weeks. The employee's qualified medical practitioner or the agency that placed the child must certify that such an additional period of parental leave is required.

22.4 Parental Leave Allowance

- (a) A regular employee who has passed their probation and who qualifies for parental leave pursuant to Clause 22.3 shall be paid a Parental Leave Allowance.
- (b) In order to receive this allowance, the employee must provide the Employer with proof that the employee has applied for and is in receipt of employment insurance benefits pursuant to the *Employment Insurance Act*. An employee disentitled or disqualified from receiving employment insurance benefits is not eligible for parental leave allowance.
- (c) Parental Leave Allowance will consist of a maximum of 35 weekly payments, equivalent to the difference between the unemployment insurance gross benefits and any other earnings received by the employee and 85% of the employee's basic pay. Where an employee has opted for extended 61 week employment insurance parental benefits, the total parental leave allowance paid will be the same as if the employee had opted for regular 35 week employment insurance parental benefits, except it will be paid in reduced equal weekly instalments throughout the extended benefits period.

22.5 Benefit Waiting Period Allowance

- (a) An employee who qualifies for and takes leave pursuant to 22.1 or 22.3 and is required by Employment Insurance to serve a one week waiting period for Employment Insurance Pregnancy/Parental benefits, shall be paid a leave allowance equivalent to one week at 85% of the employee's basic pay.
- (b) An employee who qualifies for and takes leave pursuant to 22.1 or 22.3 and takes the maximum leave entitlement, shall be paid a leave allowance equivalent to one week at 85% of the employee's basic pay for the last week of the leave entitlement.

22.6 Leave Without Pay

All leave taken under Article 22 (Pregnancy and Parental Leave) is leave without pay.

22.7 Aggregate Leave

The aggregate amount of leave of absence from employment that may be taken by an employee under Article 22.1 (Pregnancy Leave) and 22.3 (Parental Leave) in respect of the birth or adoption of any one child will not exceed 78 weeks, except as provided under Article 22.1 (f) (Pregnancy Leave) and/or 22.3(d) (Parental Leave).

22.8 Return from Leave

- (a) On return from leave, an employee will be placed in their former position.
- (b) Vacation entitlement, not vacation pay, will continue to accrue while an employee is on leave pursuant to Article 22.1 (Pregnancy Leave) or 22.3 (Parental Leave).

22.9 Benefit Plan

If an employee maintains coverage for benefit plans while on pregnancy or parental leave, the Employer agrees to pay the Employer's share of these premiums.

22.10 Seniority Rights on Return to Work

- (a) An employee will continue to accrue seniority for the period covered by the approved leave.
- (b) The employee will notify the Employer within one month prior to the expiration of the leave of their intent to return to their position unless notice is provided pursuant to Article 22.12 (Extended Child Care Leave).
- (c) The employee will be deemed to have resigned on the date upon which their leave commenced if notice is not given or they do not return to work.

22.11 Sick Leave Credits

- (a) Prior to the commencement of pregnancy leave, illness arising due to pregnancy may be covered by normal sick leave.
- (b) Sick leave may be used by any pregnant employee, authorized by the receipt of a qualified medical practitioner's statement to the Employer, where there is a confirmed case of German measles or any other disease or condition in the place of employment which could be harmful to pregnancy as determined by the qualified medical practitioner's statement or report. They may use this leave until all danger from such disease or condition no longer exists.

22.12 Extended Child Care Leave

Upon written notification, no later than four weeks prior to the expiration of the aggregate leave taken pursuant to Articles 22.1 (Pregnancy Leave) and 22.3 (Parental Leave), an employee will be granted a further unpaid leave of absence not to exceed one year.

An employee wishing continued coverage under any applicable benefit plans will pay the total premium costs while on extended child care leave.

An employee on extended child care leave will provide the Employer with at least one month's written notice of return from such leave.

Upon return from extended child care leave, an employee will be placed in their former position.

ARTICLE 23 - OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

23.1 Workplace Safety

- (a) The Employer and the Union jointly agree to establish proper health and safety practices, in order to provide employees with a safe and healthy work environment. Employees shall have the right to refuse work in conditions or circumstances that they deem not to be safe or healthy pursuant to the processes outlined in the relevant legislation.
- (b) The Employer and the Union agree that any issues and/or concerns relating to health and safety in the workplace shall be dealt with by the Joint Consultation Committee.
- (c) The Committee will review, investigate and make recommendations on unsafe, hazardous or dangerous conditions with the aim of preventing and reducing risk of occupational injury or illness.
- (d) Committee members shall suffer no loss of pay as a result of time spent in carrying out their duties under this clause.

23.2 Workplace Violence

- (a) It is recognized that at certain worksites or in certain work situations employees may be at risk of physical violence or verbal abuse from clients or the public.
- (b) Where such potential exists:
 - (1) employees at these worksites or in those work situations shall receive training in the recognition and management of such incidents; and
 - (2) applicable physical and procedural measures to protect employees shall be implemented.
- (c) Employees shall be informed by their supervisor of the potential for physical violence or verbal abuse from a client or another member of the public.
- (d) Immediate critical incident stress debriefing and, where appropriate, post traumatic counselling shall be made available for employees who have suffered as a result of work-related physical violence. Leave required to attend such debriefing or counselling sessions will be without loss of pay.

23.3 Right to Refuse Unsafe Work

No employee shall be disciplined for refusal to work on a job, which the employee believes to be unsafe pursuant to the *Workers Compensation Act*.

ARTICLE 24 - HEALTH AND WELFARE

24.1 Basic Medical Insurance

In the case of employees in the province of British Columbia, if the provincial government reinstates premiums for *Medical Services Plan* (MSP) or equivalent basic medical plan the Employer will pay 100% of the regular premium for all such employees and their dependents including spouses.

24.2 Benefit Plans

(a) All regular employees shall have access to Extended Health, Dental, Group Life, Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D) and Specific Loss benefits. The Employer agrees to present the full benefits package at time of ratification for the life of the agreement.

(b) Health Spending Account

- (1) The Employer will provide a Health Spending Account credit of \$250 per calendar year, with a credit carry forward for one additional year, for all eligible employees and dependents.
- (2) Eligible expenses include all health and/or dental expenses approved by the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) or accordance with the group policy.
- (3) The Health Spending Account terminates at age 85 or retirement, whichever is earlier.
- (c) The Employer shall also provide each employee with access to the list of available coverage under its benefit plans.
- (d) Effective January 1, 2021:
 - Coverage levels for pharmaceuticals will increase to 90%. (Increase to 100% at Costco).
 - Health Care Practitioner individual maximums will increase to \$750 with an annual maximum of \$2,500.

24.3 Long-Term Disability Plan

- (a) The Employer shall provide a long-term disability insurance plan.
- (b) The plan shall cover post-probationary employees and provide such employees with 66.67% salary continuation until the age of 65 in the event of a disability.
- (c) The Employer shall pay 100% of the present premium for the lifetime of the agreement.

24.4 Employee and Family Assistance

The Employer shall provide all employees access to an employee and family assistance program.

ARTICLE 25 - PAYMENT OF WAGES AND ALLOWANCES

25.1 Paydays

The Employer shall pay salaries and wages on a biweekly basis by direct deposit.

25.2 Rates of Pay

- (a) Employees shall be paid in accordance with Appendix A Wage Grid.
- (b) The Employer will determine which step of the classification the new employee shall be placed on the date of hire.

25.3 Equal Pay for Work of Equal Value

All employees shall receive equal pay for work of equal value.

25.4 Vehicle Allowance

Vehicle allowances for all distances traveled while on employer business shall be paid to employees required to use their own vehicles in the performance of their duties. This does not include regular local travel. Vehicle allowance shall be 59¢ per kilometre.

25.5 Meal Allowances

(a) Employees who travel outside their geographic area on the Employer's business shall be entitled to meal allowances in accordance with the following (receipts not required):

Meal	Rate
Full Day Rate	\$80
Partial Day Rate	\$50

- (b) Where meals are provided, no claim for meal allowance shall be payable.
- (c) Partial Day Rate applies when at least one meal was provided, whether by events or employee.
- (d) When on travel status for extended periods of time, the rates listed in 25.5(a) will apply.

25.6 Professional Fees and Licences

The Employer shall pay professional and/or licence fees for an employee who, as a condition of employment, is required to be a member of a professional association or be licensed.

25.7 Union Sponsored Education

The Employer recognizes that education is a continuing process. Accordingly, the Employer shall allow the Union to sponsor education functions such as seminars, workshops, lectures, etc., to be held on the Employer's premises during the employee's lunch period or following the regular working day.

25.8 Work-Related Training

- (a) Work-related training shall be defined as courses, conferences, seminars, training and/or workshops, which the Employer determines are necessary for an employee to take for the purpose of performing their position or advancing their career at Leadnow.
- (b) Where the Employer has approved an employee for professional development under this clause, the Employer shall pay all fees associated with the course, including tuition fees and fees for materials.
- (c) Time spent in such training shall be considered to be time worked.

25.9 Phone and Internet Allowance

Both parties recognize that the nature of work at LeadNow is flexible and requires working outside of out offices. Reasonable associated costs shall be borne by the Employer as follows:

- (1) Not less that \$25 per month for use of phone for work
- (2) Not less than \$75 per month internet allowance

ARTICLE 26 - STAFF REPRESENTATION ON BOARD

26.1 Union Representation on Board

- (a) The employees may elect a union representative to attend all meetings of the Board with voice and no vote and with no loss of pay to the employee concerned.
- (b) The union representative shall absent themselves from that portion of a board meeting which the Board determines to be in camera.

26.2 Employer Shall Notify Union

Any reports or recommendations about to be made to the Board dealing with matters of policy and/or conditions of employment, and which affect employees within this bargaining unit, shall be communicated by the Employer to the union representative on the board in time to afford the Union a reasonable opportunity to consider them and, if deemed necessary, of speaking to them when they are dealt with by the Board.

26.3 Copies of Resolutions

- (a) Copies of all motions, resolutions and bylaws or rules and regulation adopted by the Board which affect the members of this union are to be forwarded to the union representative on the board and circulated to all employees.
- (b) A copy of the minutes of the Board shall also be sent to the bargaining unit chair.

ARTICLE 27 - GENERAL CONDITIONS

27.1 Copies of Agreement

The Union agrees to provide copies of the collective agreement for all employees, and the Employer shall make these available. The parties shall equally bear reasonable costs associated with printing and publication of the collective agreement.

27.2 Indemnity

Except where an employee has acted outside the scope of their duties and/or there has been flagrant or willful negligence on the part of an employee, including conduct under the influence of illegal drugs or alcohol, the Employer will:

- (a) indemnify and save harmless an employee from any liability action arising from the proper performance of their duties for the Employer; and
- (b) assume all costs, legal fees and other expenses arising from the defence any such action, provided the Employer has conduct of the action.

27.3 Volunteers

It is agreed that volunteers have a role to fill in the Employer's operation and are an important link to the community being served. The use of volunteers will not result in the layoff of bargaining unit employees.

ARTICLE 28 - HARASSMENT

Preamble

The parties recognize that violence and discrimination commonly occurs on the basis of the following factors: Indigenous identity, age, marital status, citizenship, class, ethnicity/ethnic origin, gender identity or expression, sex, physical disability, learning disability, religion/spirituality, place of origin, racialization process, status or lack of status via the *Indian Act*, language, sexual orientation, sexuality, homelessness, low income status, family formation, education, physical or mental health development, appearance, record of offenses, activity in the Union and HIV/AIDS status.

The parties acknowledge that all LeadNow members have the right to equal treatment regardless of their status with respect to the above factors as well as other factors not listed. In addition, we aim to continue

educating ourselves about all forms of discrimination, so that we can better understand and work toward eliminating them.

The parties agree to work cooperatively toward eliminating discriminatory and oppressive behaviour within themselves, the organization, and the wider community so that diversity in all forms will flourish.

This policy does not prevent any employee from referring their case to the Ontario Human Rights Commission or the British Columbia Council of Human Rights for resolution or appropriate bodies in other provinces.

28.1 Harassment Free Workplace

- (a) The Employer is committed to providing a work environment which promotes respect and is free from all forms of harassment and discrimination and is supportive of the dignity, self-esteem and productivity of every employee. Any form of harassment by employees, management, volunteers or other individuals in the workplace or at work-related events shall not be tolerated.
- (b) The Employer is responsible for fostering a safe working environment, free of harassment. The Employer must deal with situations of harassment immediately on becoming aware of them, whether or not there has been a complaint.
- (c) Managers and/or supervisors are expected to intervene when there are situations involving potential discrimination or harassment and to deal with inappropriate actions of their employees.
- (d) All Employees have the responsibility not to engage in harassing behaviour. All Employees are responsible for respecting the confidentiality of anyone involved in a harassment complaint.

28.2 Violence and Harassment Definition

- (a) Harassment means engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct against a worker in a workplace that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome. It includes actions, comments, or displays. It may be a single incident or continue over time. Examples of conduct or comments that might constitute bullying and harassment include, but are not limited to, the following:
 - (1) Spreading malicious rumours, gossip, or innuendo.
 - (2) Excluding or isolating someone socially.
 - (3) Intimidating someone (i.e. acting or behaving in a way that would reasonably cause another person to feel fearful).
 - (4) Physically abusing or threatening abuse (Note: these can also be criminal acts).
 - (i) The exercise of physical force by a person against another person, in a workplace, that causes or could cause physical injury to the person;
 - (ii) An attempt to exercise physical force against another person, in a workplace, that could cause physical injury to the person;
 - (iii) A statement or behaviour that is reasonable for a person to interpret as a threat to exercise physical force against the person, in a workplace, that could cause physical injury to the person.
 - (5) Intentionally changing work guidelines or processes for negative purposes.
 - (6) Withholding necessary information or purposefully giving the wrong information.

- (7) Making jokes that are 'obviously offensive' by spoken word or in writing including email.
- (8) Intruding on someone's privacy by pestering, spying, or stalking (Note: these can also be criminal acts).
- (9) Yelling or using profanity towards another person.
- (10) Malicious tampering of an individual's personal belongings or work equipment.
- (11) Purposefully and/or consistently using a person's wrong name or pronoun (continuing this behaviour constitutes negligence).
- (12) Repeated and/or unsolicited comments, advice or judgements regarding body, personal health/nutrition, or physical appearance.
- (13) Repeated and/or unsolicited comments, advice or judgements regarding gender presentation and transitioning, including surgical procedures.
- (b) The behaviour may be a single serious incident or a repeated or persistent incident.
- (c) Employees who engage in violence or harassment may be disciplined.

28.3 Sexual Harassment Definition

Workplace Sexual Harassment shall be defined as:

- (a) engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct against a worker, in a workplace because of sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or gender expression where the course of comment or conduct is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome, such behaviour could include, but is not limited to:
 - (1) touching, patting or other physical contact;
 - (2) leering, staring or the making of sexual gestures;
 - (3) demands for sexual favours
 - (4) verbal abuse or threats;
 - (5) unwanted sexual invitations;
 - (6) physical assault of a sexual nature;
 - (7) distribution or display of sexual or offensive pictures or material;
 - (8) unwanted guestions or comments of a sexual nature.
 - (9) practical jokes of a sexual nature.
- (b) making a sexual solicitation or advance where the person making it is in a position to confer, grant or deny a benefit or advancement to the worker and the person knows or ought reasonably to know the solicitation or advance is unwelcome.
- (c) To constitute sexual harassment, behaviour may be a single serious incident or a repeated or persistent incident.
- (d) Sexual harassment will often, but need not, be accompanied by an expressed or implied threat of reprisal or promise of reward.
- (e) Sexual harassment refers to behaviour initiated by any gender.
- (f) Good faith actions of a manager or supervisor relating to the management and direction of employees such as assigning work, providing feedback to employees on work performance, and taking reasonable disciplinary action do not constitute harassment.

28.4 Procedure - Step 1: Reporting

- (a) In the event of violence or harassment, inform the person inflicting the behaviour that it is unwelcome and unwanted and to cease immediately. If possible, this action should be taken before witness reporting. If it is not safe, then take the steps needed to remove yourself from the violent situation.
- (b) If an employee's life has been threatened or the situation warrants it, the employee is encouraged to contact the police. The employee should document the incident(s) and inform their manager and/or supervisor of the incident(s). If the incidents continue, the employee should continue to document and report them.
- (c) If unable to deal directly with the respondent, LeadNow employees are responsible for promptly reporting, to the Operations Manager directly, or via their direct manager, within six months of the last alleged event causing concern, any incident of workplace harassment, bullying, violence, known history of violent behaviour, or perceived threats of violence to themselves or other LeadNow employees or volunteers.
- (d) Where the Operations Manager may be implicated, employees shall report to the Executive Director, who will lead the process in lieu. In situations deemed serious by the complainant or observing party, they are encouraged to report the matter directly to the Executive Director or Board Chairperson directly.
- (e) If the incident involves the team leader, Organizer, manager, the Executive Director, or the Chair of the Board of Directors, then the incident should be reported to the Executive Director or the Chair of the Board of Directors accordingly.
- (f) Incidents reported to LeadNow will be documented in writing with records of the date(s), time(s), the nature of the behaviour(s), and names of any witnesses using the Workplace Harassment Complaint Form. Once recorded, it is the responsibility of the Operations Manager to file and keep confidential reports and records accordingly.
- (g) All reported incidents will remain confidential. No reprisals will be made against any person reporting violent incidents.

28.5 Step 2: Harassment Complaints and Informal Mediation

- (a) An employee with an allegation of harassment is called the complainant and the person who they are making a complaint against is called the respondent.
- (b) All complaints will be kept confidential by the complainant, the respondent, the Employer, the Union and witnesses.
- (c) When an allegation of harassment is reported, the Operations Manager shall inform the Employee of the following options: informal resolution, formal mediation, and formal complaint and investigation. They shall also inform the Employee of their right to union representation.
- (d) A complainant may try to informally resolve their complaint with the assistance of the Executive Director or manager and may have union representation. If the complainant is satisfied with the outcome reached at this point, the complaint is considered resolved. If the complainant decides to proceed with informal mediation, the Operations Manager will attempt to resolve the matter prior to formal mediation or formal complaint.
- (e) The Operations Manager will advise the union's stewards that a complaint has been made and when a complaint has been resolved informally, unless requested otherwise by the complainant. The

complainant and respondent (if a member of the Union) have the right to union representation through the formal complaint process.

- (f) If the Employee declines to proceed informally, the Operations Manager shall attempt to initiate formal mediation under Step 3.
- (g) At any time in the process, an Employee may submit a formal complaint under Step 4, or a grievance or Human Rights complaint.
- (h) If warranted, the Operations Manager may decide to move to investigation without intervening steps, even in the absence of a formal complaint.

28.6 Step 3: Formal Mediation

- (a) If the Operations Manager, complainant and respondent agree, the parties may undertake mediation. Within 14 days, the Operations Manager will appoint a mediator agreed upon by the Employer and the Union. The mediator will coordinate the mediation between the parties.
- (b) The complainant and the respondent each have the right to be accompanied and assisted during mediation sessions by someone they choose.
- (c) The outcome of the mediation will result in one of the following:
 - (1) No resolution: the complainant withdraws the allegation and no further action is taken;
 - (2) A resolution is reached, written and signed by all parties to the mediation; or
 - (3) No resolution is reached and the complainant asks that the matter proceed to formal complaint and investigation.

28.7 Step 4: Formal Complaint and Investigation

- (a) When the complainant does not want to proceed informally or through mediation, but wants to pursue the matter, a written formal complaint signed by the complainant shall be submitted to the Operations Manager within six months of the last alleged event.
- (b) Where there is no resolution either through the informal procedure or mediation, the complainant will have 15 days to submit a written formal complaint signed by the complainant to the Operations Manager.
- (c) The complaint must contain the specific instance(s) and date(s) that the alleged harassment occurred, the names of any witnesses, an explanation of how the action constitutes a violation of this article, and the remedy sought.
- (d) If the formal investigation is warranted, the Operations Manager will appoint an outside investigator, and will provide a copy of the formal complaint to the respondent and the BCGEU staff representative within 10 days. In the case of a denial of a formal investigation, the Operations Manager will provide a written statement of reasons to the complainant and the union's stewards.
- (e) The complainant, respondent and anyone interviewed during the investigation have the right to be accompanied by a person of their choice during any interviews or meetings.
- (f) The investigation shall proceed without delay and shall be completed as quickly as possible, with a written report submitted within 30 days.

28.8 Investigation Report and Next Steps

- (a) Draft Report Upon completion of the investigation, the investigator shall provide a draft report in writing to the complainant and respondent within 10 days of completing the investigation. The draft (and final) report shall include findings on whether the complaint has been substantiated.
 - (1) The complainant and respondent will be afforded 10 days to respond in writing to the draft report in order to clarify or correct factual errors or conclusions.
- (b) Final Report Within 14 days of receipt of the responses to the draft report from the complainant and the respondent, the investigator will prepare a final report which will be provided to the complainant, respondent, Operations Manager, Executive Director, and the BCGEU staff representative. The Executive Director will decide what action to take, and will inform the complainant, respondent and the BCGEU staff representative of the decision, in writing, within 10 days of the final report being submitted.
- (c) Discipline When a complaint of harassment is substantiated, and if the Employer initiates discipline, any discipline will be pursuant to Article 11 (Discharge, Suspension and Discipline) of the collective agreement.
- (d) Complaints Made in Bad Faith If the investigation determines that the complaint was made in frivolous, vindictive or vexatious, the complainant may be subject to discipline pursuant to Article 11 (Discharge, Suspension and Discipline) of the collective agreement.
 - (1) The Employer shall take all necessary action to remedy the effects of the allegation on the respondent as well as on any other individual affected in the workplace.
- (e) Retaliation Anyone who retaliates in any way against a person who has been involved in a harassment complaint may be subject to discipline pursuant to Article 11 (Discharge, Suspension and Discipline) of the collective agreement.
- (f) Confidentiality The Employer, the mediator, and the investigator, will not disclose any information about a complaint except as necessary to investigate the complaint or to take disciplinary action, or as required bylaw.

28.9 Appeal

- (a) Disputes resulting from actions taken under this article may be grieved by the complainant or respondent within 30 days at Step 2 of the grievance procedure.
- (b) A grievance must be submitted through the Union to an arbitrator from Clause 10.2 (Arbitrator).
- (c) The Arbitrator may first try to reach a resolution acceptable to the Employer and the Union.

28.10 Appointment of Investigator

- (a) In the case of possible systemic issues, multiple complaints, or a formal complaint, the Employer and the Union may agree to seek the assistance of an independent investigator agreeable to the parties. The investigator will examine any underlying issues that may contribute to harassment in the workplace and recommend preventative and corrective measures to the parties.
- (b) Nothing will preclude an employer from seeking an independent investigator if the Employer deems one necessary.
- (c) The cost of using an independent investigator shall be shared by both parties, provided that there was mutual agreement to appoint.

- (d) If an investigator is appointed pursuant to the Procedures herein, the investigator must meet the following qualifications:
 - (1) demonstrated experience as an investigator, with particular preference given to investigators with experience in human rights investigation.

ARTICLE 29 - CONTRACT EMPLOYEES

29.1 Definition

Contract employees are defined as employees hired on a short-term or temporary basis, and shall be covered by all provisions of the collective agreement, except the following:

Article 17 - Paid Holidays

Article 18 - Vacations

Clause 19.1 (Sick Leave)

Clause 19.2 (Sick Leave Entitlement)

Clause 19.4 (Long-Term Disability)

Clause 20.2 (Personal Days)

Clause 20.8 (Leave of Absence for Full-Time Public Duties)

Clause 20.10 (General Leave)

Clause 20.11 (Leave for Personal Work)

Clause 20.12 (Benefits During Unpaid Leave)

Article 22 - Maternity and Parental Leave

Article 24 - Health and Welfare

29.2 Pay in lieu

Contract employees shall be entitled to 11% pay in lieu of health and welfare benefits, paid holidays and vacation time.

ARTICLE 30 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

30.1 Duration

This agreement shall be binding and remain in effect from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2025.

30.2 Notice to Bargain

- (a) This agreement may be opened for collective bargaining by either party giving written notice to the other party on or after September 1, 2025, but in any event not later than midnight, September 30, 2025.
- (b) Where no notice is given by either party prior to September 30, 2025, both parties shall be deemed to have given notice under this clause on September 30, 2025.
- (c) Where a party to this agreement has given notice under Clause 30.2(a) or is deemed to have given notice pursuant to Clause 30.2(b), the parties shall, within 10 days after the notice was given, commence collective bargaining.
- (d) All notices on behalf of the Union shall be given by the President of the Union and similar notices on behalf of the Employer shall be given by the Executive Director.

30.3 Changes in Agreement

Any changes deemed necessary to this agreement may be made by mutual agreement at any time during the existence of this agreement.

30.4 Agreement to Continue in Force

Where such notice requests revisions only, the following conditions shall apply:

- (a) The notice shall state specifically the revisions requested and bargaining negotiations shall be restricted thereto, unless the parties otherwise mutually agree.
- (b) Where notice to amend the agreement is given, the provisions of this agreement shall continue in force until a new agreement is signed, or the right to strike occurs, whichever occurs first. If negotiations extend beyond the termination of the agreement, any revision in terms mutually agreed upon shall apply retroactively to that date, unless otherwise specified.

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE UNION:
Paul Finch President
Signed by: Nayeli Jimenez Santos 2847274F0A6247A
Nayeli Jimenez Santos Bargaining Committee Member
Signed by: Lidan Mully B46C030EE52D4B5 Aidan McNally Bargaining Committee Member
Larisa Mills, on behalf of Jacqueline McGuire
Staff Representative
Date: April 3, 2025

THE EMPLOYER:
Slanaaz Gokool
DFDF3420C0754B9 Shanaaz Gokool
Executive Director
Signed by:
Jamie Biggar
Jamie Biggar

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF

Chair of the Board

APPENDIX A Wage Grid

Position Title		Jan 1-24 +4%	Jan 1-25 +4%
Manager	\$ 5,648.60	\$ 5,874.54	\$ 6,109.53
Campaigner/Organizer	\$ 4,900.71	\$ 5,096.74	\$ 5,300.61
Coordinator	\$ 4,900.71	\$ 5,096.74	\$ 5,300.61
Developer	\$ 5,648.60	\$ 5,874.54	\$ 6,109.53

Notwithstanding the wage schedule in Appendix A in this agreement, the minimum hourly pay rate for any position in the bargaining unit will be the current BC minimum wage plus 1.9%, rounded up to the nearest penny.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 1 Re: Summer Students

Providing opportunities to students is a part of Leadnow's vision. The parties agree that students will be utilized and will not be part of the bargaining unit. It is not the Employer's intent to have students remain a regular part of the workforce. Students are defined as short-term hires whose wage is subsidized by a third party granting organization.

The Employer will provide notice to the Union when utilizing a student, and such notice will include the name of the incumbent, nature of the work, length of term and wage rate.

INFORMATION APPENDIX 1

Column Order	Name	Format	Format Description
1	Member SIN	XXXXXXXX	9 digits, no dashes or spaces
2	Member Last Name		
3	Member First Name		
4	Dues	XXXX.XX	No commas or dollar signs
5	Gross Wages for Period	XXXX.XX	No commas or dollar signs
6	Job/ Position Title		
7	Service Start Date	yyyyMMdd	
8	Appointment Code		Regular, Auxiliary, etc
9	Work Location Name		
10	Work Location Address		
11	Member Address		
12	Member Work Phone	XXXXXXXXX	10 digits, no dashes or spaces
13	Member Home Phone	XXXXXXXXX	10 digits, no dashes or spaces
14	Member Cell Phone	XXXXXXXXX	10 digits, no dashes or spaces

Column Order	Name	Format	Format Description
15	Member Home Email		

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #1

Re: Health and Dental Benefits

The Employer will convene a meeting for parties to meet with GroupHealth within six months of ratifications regarding inclusion of the definition and coverage of gender affirming care.

This meeting will also include a review of how GroupHealth supports those who are gender diverse, transitioning, or trans.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #2 Re: Gender Affirmation Fund

- (a) The Employer agrees with the principle of supporting trans and gender-diverse employees. To that end, the parties agree to investigate the reimbursement up to a lifetime maximum of \$1000 for costs related to gender affirming care of trans and gender diverse employees.
- (b) This fund is not intended to be limiting or exhaustive but could include transitions related expenses associated with gender affirmations (wardrove, binders, makeup), medical procedures, pharmaceuticals, and therapies, especially those not sufficiently covered by the members' existing health coverage (such as voice speech therapy, laser hair removal, plastic surgery). This could also include coverage for administrative costs associated with changing one's legal name and/or listed gender marker through government channels.
- (c) It is the intent of the parties that the benefit will come into effect by December 31, 2024 upon completion of an implementation protocol agreed to by the parties by the Joint Consultation Committee.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #3 Re: Working Abroad

The Employer will consider requests to temporarily work from abroad and retains full discretion to approve or deny such requests.

Working abroad agreement may be extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the employee.

The Employer will not be responsible for any additional costs due to an extension to working abroad.